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Introduction 

As part of the development proposals for Launde Abbey, new staff dwellings, associated access, services and landscaping are planned in the area to the east (rear) of the stableblock. This area is presently grassed and planted with trees, mainly small fruit trees. There are various earthworks in the area, the origin and date of which were uncertain. The Senior Planning Archaeologist at Leicestershire County Council has therefore requested an archaeological survey and report on the earthworks in order that the potential impact of this aspect of the development proposals on any buried archaeological remains within the area may be fully assessed. The field survey was undertaken by Neil Finn of University of Leicester Archaeological Services on 30.6.2006. 

Description and Interpretation of the Earthworks 
The earthworks are illustrated in Figure 1 and identified in the following description by the letter codes A-K. Figure 2 shows the layout of former buildings in this area, based on Ordnance Survey map evidence, identified by the numbers 1-9. The natural topography slopes down from east to west with a fall of approximately 5m from the eastern site boundary to the rear of the stableblock.  
Against the southern boundary of the area is a rectangular basin constructed from concrete block-work which surmounts a contemporary earthwork A. This houses fuel tanks supplying the Warden’s house to the south and was presumably constructed around the same time as the house in c.2000.
Comparison with early Ordnance Survey maps (Figure 2) demonstrates that the Warden’s house and the fuel storage tanks occupy the site of an earlier building. This large structure, consisting of two principal elements (1 & 2 on Figure 2), was possibly built as a barn. It is visible in the 1948 and 1949 aerial photographs of Launde Abbey (ULAS report 2005-096, Plates 46 & 47). The larger northern element of this building, 1, is shown on the First Edition Ordnance Survey map surveyed in 1884. The southern section, 2, is also shown on that map but as an un-roofed structure; it had been roofed over by the time of the second edition Ordnance Survey in 1904. From the aerial photographs it can be seen that 1 was a single-storey building with a tall pitched roof.         

Earthwork B is an area of landscaping undertaken when the stableblock was extended and converted for residential use in c.1986. 
Occupying a levelled platform area C is the remains of a structure. The corner of a brick and concrete foundation is exposed at the surface with a further wall line evident as a parch mark in the ground; probing confirmed a solid foundation in this position. The remains suggest a structure c.3m wide and at least 6m long, its long axis orientated approximately north-east to south-west. 

Map evidence indicates that a building was erected in this location some time between 1904 and 1930 (6 on Figure 2). This was evidently demolished prior to 1948, as its empty site is clearly seen on the aerial photograph of that year (ULAS report 2005-096, Plate 46). Subsequently another building, 8, was erected on the same site, after 1949 but by 1960. The 1960 Ordnance Survey map shows that this was an open-sided structure. The foundations recorded during the earthwork survey appear to be those of building 6.     

There is a level platform terraced into the natural slope at D. A low, linear earthwork to the west of this possibly corresponds with a buried wall foundation. 

These earthworks correspond with the position of a building constructed some time between 1949 and 1960 (9 on Figure 2). A smaller building immediately to the west of this (7 on Figure 2) was built between 1904 and 1930, based on the map evidence. This was demolished prior to 1948 and its empty site is clearly seen on the 1948 and 1949 aerial photographs (ULAS report 2005-096, Plates 46 & 47).   

A low but distinct right-angled earthwork at E may correspond with the position of a buried wall foundation. This occupies a relatively level area with some evidence of terracing into the natural slope to the south. A building in approximately this location (3 on Figure 2) was extant by 1884 and is identified on the 1904 OS map as a Saw Mill (ULAS report 2005-096, Figure 16). This is visible in the 1948 and 1949 aerial photographs as a low, single-storey structure with pitched roof (ibid., Plates 46 & 47). The map evidence indicates that its south-east side was open.    

A prominent, curving bank F skirts round the north end of E and extends across the field to the east of the study area as a distinct earthwork G. Map evidence indicates that this corresponds with the line of a trackway, extant before 1884 (dashed red line on Figure 2).    
A distinct earthwork bank H is discernible along part of the eastern site boundary within the overgrown hedgerow.

A linear earthwork J, aligned north-east to south-west, appears to represent terracing into the natural slope. This may have been associated with the creation of platform D to the west.
A hollow area K is defined on one side by a linear parch mark which continues the line of a stone-built wall, now serving as a garden wall. Probing of the ground on the line of the parch mark confirmed the existence of a buried wall foundation. The hollow area may be a semi-sunken floor or infilled cellar within a building. 

A building in this location (4 on Figure 2) was extant by 1884. This was a two-storey gabled structure with door and window openings in its west elevation, as shown in the 1948, 1949 and 1950 aerial photographs (ULAS report 2005-096, Plates 46-48). Drains serving the stableblock run eastwards across the footprint of this building then turn northwards towards the septic tank. There are two inspection covers in this immediate vicinity and it is likely that installation of this drainage c.1986 will have resulted in significant truncation of earlier buried structural remains. 
A series of small pens illustrated on early OS maps (5 on Figure 2), suggests that the rear wing at the north end of the stableblock, which now functions as a dwelling, was formerly a pigsty.       

Discussion  

The earthworks to the east (rear) of the stableblock at Launde Abbey relate to a series of ancillary buildings and a trackway. Three of the buildings were constructed before 1884 (1-4 on Figure 2), including a saw mill and a probable barn. Buried remains relating to all three of these are likely to have suffered damage resulting from the construction of the Warden’s house and associated landscaping and installation of drain runs serving the stableblock at the end of the 20th century. It is not known when these buildings were constructed, although a barn and various other outbuildings are listed in two 18th century inventories of Launde Abbey (ULAS report 2005-096, 22). The remaining buildings (6-9 on Figure 2) were certainly constructed in the 20th century.

Several of the buildings were still standing in 1960 and possibly as late as 1987, as they are shown on the Ordnance Survey map published in that year (ULAS Report 2005-096, Figure 19). All of the buildings appear to have been demolished by 1990 when sections of 4 stone walls with some brickwork were recorded in this area by Richard Pollard, these corresponding with the position of buildings illustrated on the 1904 OS map (Leicestershire Sites and Monuments Record; ULAS Report 2005-096, 42). 
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Figure 1. Earthworks to the south (rear) of the stableblock. Scale 1:500.
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Figure 2. Interpretation of earthworks showing buildings illustrated on early OS maps. Scale 1:500.
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